94416-4 No. 75108-5-1 FILED

APR 27 2017

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BULK FR8, LLC

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW SCHULER, an individual,

DEREK BROWN, an individual,

TOTAL CONNECTION LOGISTIC SERVICES, INC., A New Jersey Corporation,

Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dubs A.T. Herschlip, WSBA # 31652 Dubs Ari Tanner Herschlip, PLLC 627-5th St, Ste 203 Mukilteo, WA 98275 425-903-3505 Attorney for Respondent, BULK FR8, LLC

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

BULK FR8, LLC, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court review the part of the decision of the Court of Appeals, filed March 20, 2017, that reversed the trial court's discretionary denial of fees pursuant to RCW 4.28.185(5).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether RCW 4.28.185(5) Awards Are Discretionary.
- 2. Whether the Standard of Review Was Improperly Applied.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The trial court in this case presided over few motions concerning a Washington business, BULK FR8, suing to restrain two of its former employees from transferring to an out-of-state business, Total Connection, its clients, trade secrets and employees. Total Connection, a direct competitor of BULK FR8, allegedly stole these valuable assets vis-a-vis BULK FR8's former employees and funded their defense, but neglected to file an answer to BULK FR8's complaint. Total Connection had employees and a registered agent in Washington. CP 7 & 10. Total Connection did not challenge personal jurisdiction, service of process or venue. CP 64-77 (opposition to preliminary injunction), CP 137-147 (opposition to motion

for reconsideration), CP 191-95 (response to motion to release bond), & CP 235-243 (motion for costs and attorney fees).

After losing its motion for a preliminary injunction of its two in-state former employees, BULK FR8 moved to exonerate its \$50,000 cash bond and to voluntarily dismiss its action to avoid disclosing more trade secrets before the first requested discovery action: an improperly noted deposition of BULK FR8's president.

Appellants brought motions for attorney fees. CP 235-243. One basis of those motions for attorneys' fees was RCW 4.28.185(5). CP 239-40.

The trial court denied the request for attorneys' fees based on the longarm statute and that the action was not frivolous (CP 338), as well as granted an exoneration of the bond and the voluntary dismissal. Id. Appellants appealed.

The decision of the Court of Appeals, filed March 20, 2017, affirmed the trial court's rulings, but reversed the trial court's denial of attorney fees based on the long-arm statute, and remanded to the trial court for findings on the amount of attorney fees due to Total Connection as an out-of-state party based on the long-arm statute. Appendix A, Appellate Opinion, p. 15.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Washington Supreme Court should accept review per RAP 13.4(b) because: The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions

of this Supreme Court and other published decisions of the Court of Appeals by mandating that less than full victory on the merits for plaintiffs equates to a full fee award for all out-of-state defendants; And, the decision raises a significant question of law under the Equal Protection Clause of the Constitution of the United States that involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court where the decision mandates that all resident plaintiffs pay a defendant's reasonable attorney fees simply without requiring a jurisdictional challenge but solely because such defendant was personally served outside the state on causes of action enumerated in the RCW 4.28.185 thereby arbitrarily depriving Washington residents the benefit of the American Rule that prevailing litigants may not recover attorney's fees from losing litigants.

1. RCW 4.28.185 Awards Are Discretionary

a. The Plain Text of RCW 4.28.185

An award of attorney's fees is not mandatory under RCW 4.28.815. RCW 4.28.185(5) provides that "... there <u>may</u> be taxed and allowed to the defendant as part of the costs of defending the action a reasonable amount to be fixed by the court as attorneys' fees." [Emphasis added.] The Legislature's use of the word "may" clearly indicates that the award of fees under RCW 4.28.185(5) is permissive, rather than mandatory. State v. O'Connell (O'Connell I), 83 Wn.2d 797, 844, 523 P.2d 872 (1974),

overruled in part by Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks, 114 Wn. 2d 109, 786 P.2d 265 (1990). Specifically, the Washington Supreme Court provided:

The trial court was of the opinion that this provision is discretionary and not mandatory. We think that is the proper interpretation to be placed upon it. See Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, Inc., 81 Wn.2d 863, 505 P.2d 790 (1973). That being the case, this court will not set the trial court's ruling aside in the absence of a clear showing of abuse of discretion. We do not find that such a showing has been made.

O'Connell I, 83 Wn.2d at 844.

Later, in *Fetzer*, the Washington Supreme Court sought to clarify that even if a defendant prevailed in challenging Washington jurisdiction, and not on the merits of the case, attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185 may be awarded, and specifically provided that:

...reference to "the action on the merits", we meant only to distinguish the defendants' success in the principal action from their failure to win an award of fees incurred at trial. O'Connell says nothing to suggest that the fees statute authorizes fees awards only when the defendant prevails on the merits of the principal action.

Fetzer, 114 Wn.2d at 113.

Thus, prevailing on the merits is not the only criterion for awarding attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185, but may include cases where improper long-arm jurisdiction is challenged by a defendant and followed by a plaintiff's nonsuit, as in *Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, Inc.*, 81 Wn.2d 863. This increased possibility of awards under RCW 4.28.185, however, does not necessarily deprive the trial court of discretion and mandate

attorney fees in every instance, as the Court of Appeals concluded here.

Fetzer itself reaffirmed that there were circumstances where an outof-state defendant had more than minimum contacts in Washington, and thus attorney fees were not warranted under RCW 4.28.185. The Fetzer Court explained:

> Our decisions in O'Connell and in Chemical Bank v. WPPSS, 104 Wn.2d 98, 104, 702 P.2d 128 (1985) have similar effect. In both cases we justified a conclusion that fees awards were not warranted by observing: "This is not a case where the defendant has had only minimum contacts with the state in which he is asked to defend an action." O'Connell I, 83 Wn.2d at 607; see also Chemical Bank, 104 Wn.2d supra at 104. By contrast, a foreign defendant over whom long-arm jurisdiction is improperly asserted determinedly has had less than minimal contacts with the state. As a direct result of the plaintiff's resort to the long-arm statute, however, the defendant suddenly finds himself in need of Washington counsel and responsible for abiding Washington laws and court rules -- "burdens and inconveniences which would have been avoided had the trial been conducted at the place of his domicile". O'Connell I, 83 Wn.2d at 606.

Fetzer, 114 Wn.2d at 113-14.

By citing approvingly to *O'Connell* and *Chemical Bank*, both cases in which the defendants had more than minimum contacts in Washington, and thus "fee awards were not warranted," the Washington Supreme Court confirmed that fee awards are not mandatory under RCW 4.28.185. *Fetzer*, 114 Wn.2d at 113-14.

The Appellants made no showing of burdens to Total Connection,

nor of improper jurisdiction, nor a showing of how trial might have been more properly conducted in New Jersey. Total Connection did not challenge jurisdiction because it is expanding its business into Washington.

b. The Dual Purpose of RCW 4.28.185

One purpose of the statute is to "compensate defendants for the added expense caused them by plaintiffs' assertions of long-arm jurisdiction." *Perkumpulan Inv'r Crisis Ctr. Dressel--WBG v. Wong*, No. C09-1786-JCC, 2014 WL 3738629 at 2 (W.D. Wash., July 29, 2014). Here, Total Connection had more than minimum contacts where it had a registered agent, employees and had an office in Washington. CP 7 & 10.

Another purpose of the fee-shifting provision is it seeks to prevent plaintiffs from invoking Washington's long-arm statute as a means to harass foreign defendants, and to promote the full exercise of Washington's long-arm jurisdiction. *Id.* Here, Total Connection did not challenge Washington's jurisdiction. CP 64-77, CP 137-147, CP 191-95, & CP 235-243. The trial court found that BULK FR8's case was not frivolous. CP 338. BULK FR8 supported its claims by posting and risking its own \$50,000 cash bond, reflecting that its own genuine commitment to the case exceeded a mere intent to harass. CP 190. This case was not meant to harass, but to protect a Washington business.

Without serving the dual purposes for which the statute was

founded, an award of attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185 to Total Connection would be arbitrary and unconstitutional. In *Mahnkey v. King*, 5 Wn. App 555, 557, 489 P.2d 361, 363 (1971), the court considered the balance of relative convenience and burdens placed upon both the plaintiff and defendant in litigating the cause of action in Washington under RCW 4.28.185. *Id.* It then stated that the burden on foreign defendants was lessened by the statutory award of attorney's fees if they prevailed in the action. *Id.* at 558-59. The court declared that the legislature delineated out-of-state defendants as a specific class to bring the statute within the ambit of the principles of "fair play and substantial justice" advanced in *International Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 316, 66 S. Ct. 154, 90 L. Ed. 95 (1945).

Other Washington decisions, some of which preceded *Mahnkey*, contributed to weaving RCW 4.28.185(5) into the fabric of "minimum contacts" analysis under the long arm statute. *See* Comment, Valner L. Johnson, *The Award of Attorney's Fees to Prevailing Defendants Under the Washington Long Arm Statute*, 63 Wash. L. Rev. 125, 140 (1988). In at least two cases, the Washington courts noted that in balancing the relative convenience and burdens placed upon the plaintiff and nonresident defendant, the ability of prevailing defendants to obtain an award of attorney's fees fixed by the court lightened their burden. *See Smith v. York*

Food Mach. Co., 81 Wn.2d 719, 725, 504 P.2d 782, 787 (1972); see also Omstead v. Brader Heaters, Inc., 5 Wn. App. 258, 264, 487, P.2d 234, 242 (1971). The provision is also seen as a shield protecting defendants from harassment. See Werner v. Werner, 84 Wn.2d 360, 371, 526 P.2d 370, 378 (1974). It buttressed this conclusion with the observation that the different burdens placed upon nonresident defendants, especially the added expenses of cross-country travel and bringing expert witnesses from out of state, were the basis for the legislature's allowance of attorney's fee awards to nonresident defendants. Mahnkey, 5 Wn. App at 558-59. Here, no such findings regarding harassment or added expense were made by the Court of Appeals here, making its fee-shifting arbitrary and potentially unconstitutional.

The Washington Supreme Court has upheld the purpose developed in Mahnkey. State v. O'Connell, (O'Connell II) 84 Wn.2d 602, 528 P.2d 988 (1974). In O'Connell II and Marketing Unlimited v. Chemical Co., 90 Wn.2d 410, 583 P.2d 630 (1978), the Supreme Court made section 4.28.185(5) a component of International Shoe. The court also sustained the Mahnkey court's theory that the distinctive treatment afforded nonresident defendants counterbalanced the expenses of travel and witness procurement. O'Connell II, 84 Wn.2d at 606. However, no such findings of expenses were made here where an out-of-state defendant rushed forward

to defend its in-state employees who were being sued for stealing clients and trade secrets from their in-state former employer.

The Washington Supreme Court sought to develop a more explicit test to guide trial courts in exercising their discretion. *Id.* at 606. The *O'Connell* test has appeared in many subsequent decisions concerning section 4.28.185(5), (*see*, e.g., *Marketing*, 90 Wn.2d at 413; *Chemical Bank*, 104 Wn.2d at 101-02) while also creating a second purpose for an award of attorney's fees: the plaintiff's misconduct. Under the *O'Connell II* test, a trial court first determines if the plaintiff's action was frivolous and brought only to harass the prevailing defendant. If this is the case, then an award of attorney's fees is appropriate. *O'Connell II*, 84 Wn.2d at 606. Here, the trial court found specifically that the action was not frivolous. CP 338. Rather than a finding that the action was brought only to harass the defendant, the trial court permitted the case to proceed to trial to prove damages. CP 338.

If the plaintiff is not guilty of misconduct in litigation, the second prong of the *O'Connell II* test grants prevailing defendants fee awards if they were subjected to burdens and inconveniences by defending the action in Washington. *O'Connell II*, 84 Wn.2d at 606. Fee awards are appropriate only when trial courts find three things: (1) The burdens would have been avoided if the trial was conducted at the defendant's domicile; (2) The burdens are not balanced by conveniences to the defendant resulting from

the trial of the action in Washington; and (3) The burdens are sufficiently severe to justify the trial court's conclusion that notions of fair play and substantial justice will be violated absent an award of fees. *Id.* None of these factors were established by the out-of-state defendant because the out-of-state defendant did nothing to defend itself: No answer was filed, nor challenge made to personal jurisdiction, personal service or venue. CP 64-77; 137-47; 191-95; 235-43. According to the decision of the Court of Appeals, dated March 20, 2017, anything short of a full victory on the merits for a plaintiff equates to a situation in which the defendant "prevails" and is entitled to a full fee award. Other non-precedential courts find that position to go beyond the common meaning of "prevail." *See Perkumpulan*, 2014 WL 3738629 at 3. Here, the defendants did not obtain dismissal on the merits, jurisdictional dismissal, or negotiate a voluntary dismissal with BULK FR8, and were not a prevailing party according to the trial court.

c. Long-Arm Statutory Attorney Fees Are Improper Without Motion Or Pleading Challenging Long-Arm Jurisdiction

In O'Connell II, 84 Wn.2d at 605, Chemical Bank, 104 Wn.2d at 104, and Silvaris, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52810 at 1, 2008 WL 2697186 at 1, fees were not authorized where defendants did not successfully challenge personal jurisdiction or otherwise offer a legitimate basis for dismissal with prejudice.

In *Mahnkey*, the Washington Court of Appeals decided that section 4.28.185(5) may be constitutional insofar as it reduces the burden on defendants to litigate in Washington. *Mahnkey*, 5 Wash. App at 557. The plaintiff in *Mahnkey* challenged the constitutionality of the attorney's fee provision of the long arm statute on equal protection grounds claiming that no reasonable basis existed for making a distinction between resident and out-of-state defendants. *Id.* at 558. The plaintiff argued, persons subject to the jurisdiction of Washington courts were unreasonably divided into two classes: plaintiffs who lose to Washington defendants and plaintiffs who lose to out-of-state defendants. *Id.*

Given the subject Order of the Court of Appeals, the statutory classification becomes arbitrary and unconstitutional where every out-of-state defendant gets its attorneys' fees paid for by every in-state plaintiff. Rather, this motion for reconsideration requests examination of the positions of the parties relative to each other, and if their relative positions have not changed (because Plaintiff remains able to re-file without prejudice) and there has been no success on the merits or nor success in challenging the exercise of Washington jurisdiction, then no attorney fees may be awarded based on RCW 4.28.185. The sole distinguishing factor here appears to be that one party is in-state, and another party is out-of-state, and therefore entitled to attorney fees on that basis alone, which would

and therefore entitled to attorney fees on that basis alone, which would create a bright line unequal application of the law on attorney fees depending on whether the parties were in-state or out-of-state residents, regardless of how much of a presence or how many "minimum contacts" those out-of-state residents may have in the state of Washington. Thus, the Court of Appeals ordering Plaintiff to pay Total Connection's attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185(5) is an arbitrary and unconstitutional fee-shifting that violates the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution.

2. The Standard of Review Was Improperly Applied

a. The Standard of Review is Abuse of Discretion

The awarding of attorney fees pursuant to a statute or contract is a matter of discretion with the trial court that will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Culinary Workers & Bartenders Union, Local 596 v. Gateway Cafe, Inc.*, 91 Wn.2d 353, 372, 588 P.2d 1334, 1346 (1979), *amended*, 642 P.2d 403(1981), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 839, 103 S. Ct. 87, 74 L. Ed. 2d 81 (1982). Such a showing has not been made.

An award of attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185(5) rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Lundberg v. Coleman*, 115 Wn. App. 172, 180-81, 60 P.3d 595 (Div. 1, 2002). The trial court considered all the facts in the matter and exercised sound discretion in denying attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185. The trial court's order should have remained

in conflict with decisions of the Washington Supreme Court. See Chemical Bank, 104 Wn.2d at 101-02; O'Connell I, 83 Wn.2d at 844.

b. Denying Fees Is within the Trial Court's Discretion

A case similar to the case at hand, but non-precedential, highlights the discretionary nature of an attorney fee award under RCW 4.28.185 where the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington declined to award attorney fees. *Silvaris Corp. v. Brissa Lumber Corp.*, No. C07-0196 MJP, 2008 WL 2697186, at 1. The Court in *Silvaris* concluded that RCW 4.28.185(5) was inapplicable because the defendants did not challenge personal jurisdiction. Here, Total Connection did not challenge jurisdiction.

Later, BULK FR8 filed for voluntary dismissal as a matter of right to protect itself from further unfair competition by its out-of-state competitor who had allegedly stolen its trade-secrets in a case where the trial court had denied a protection order of those same trade secrets and the Defendants had noted his deposition which could have required disclosure of additional trade secrets belonging to BULK FR8 by its out-of-state competitor pursuant to rules of discovery. This dismissal was a protective measure in a court reluctant to enforce non-compete agreements against former employees or to protect a resident-business's trade secrets.

Voluntary dismissals are encouraged, not discouraged under the court

Voluntary dismissals are encouraged, not discouraged under the court rule, CR 41(a)(1)(b), which does not contemplate the award of costs or attorney fees when there has been a voluntary dismissal. *Id.* A voluntary dismissal without prejudice is not a "final judgment" and therefore does not entitle a party to attorney fees under CR 41. *See Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft*, 165 Wn.2d 481, 492; 200 P.3d 683 (2009). In ordinary usage, a "final judgment" is "[a] court's last action that settles the rights of the parties and disposes of all issues in controversy …" BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 859 (8th ed. 2004). By this well-accepted definition, a "voluntary dismissal" is not a final judgment. A voluntary dismissal leaves the parties as if the action had never been brought. *State v. Taylor*, 150 Wn.2d 599, 602, 80 P.3d 605 (2003).

When Total Connection brought a motion for attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185(5) after plaintiff's voluntary nonsuit (CP 235-43), the trial court denied the request for attorney fees based on the long-arm jurisdictional statute and its awareness of the facts of the case and circumstances of the parties. CP 338. The trial court was in the best position to make such a ruling, and ruled that Total Connection was not a prevailing party. CP 338. The trial court stated in its March 9, 2016 order that it "does not find that defendants were the prevailing party in this action and therefore not entitled to payment of costs and attorney's fees by plaintiff." CP 338.

that have explored the mistaken "general" rule that "if a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses its entire action under CR 41, the Defendant is considered to be the prevailing party for purposes of attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185." See Andersen, 81 Wn.2d 863. Absolutist reasoning based on Andersen is flawed. Andersen is used to support the proposition that a defendant prevails when a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses a claim by virtue of the fact that the plaintiff "failed to prove his claim" after several days at trial. Id. 868. Andersen reaffirmed that under the long-arm jurisdictional statute, a prevailing party includes more than prevailing on the merits and includes: One who prevails on the merits; One who prevails on jurisdictional grounds; And, a party who successfully defended against a case through several days of trial until the plaintiff moved for a voluntary nonsuit. Id. None of these definitions apply to the case at hand where plaintiff nonsuited near the outset of the case and prior to the defendants filing any answer or challenge to jurisdiction.

Andersen did not mandate attorney fees in all cases where a plaintiff's voluntary nonsuits without prejudice was granted so that it is free to re-file. Here, no substantive issues were resolved. BULK FR8 may refile the suit.

The Court of Appeals decision seems to imply that because RCW 4.28.185(5) empowers the trial court with discretion to award attorney fees, that Total Connection is entitled to such fees under *Andersen* without

4.28.185(5) empowers the trial court with discretion to award attorney fees, that Total Connection is entitled to such fees under *Andersen* without having made the required showing of harassment or additional expense caused by plaintiff under *O'Connell II* and other cases.

The Court's decision whether to grant or deny a request for attorneys' fees under section 4.28.185(5) is "wholly within the discretion of the trial court." *Perkumpulan*, No. C09-1786-JCC, 2014 WL 3738629 at 3. Here, the Court of Appeals substitutes its judgment for that of the trial court, as if the trial court's ruling were under more stringent scrutiny than an abuse of discretion standard of review. In *Perkumpulan*, the Court denied fees under RCW 4.28.185(5) where plaintiff's "jurisdictional arguments were neither frivolous nor incapable of substantiation." *Id.* at 4. Here, Total Connection requested costs for opposing frivolous actions. CP 241-41. The trial court found that BULK FR8's lawsuit was not frivolous and did not award costs. CP 338. There were similarly no findings that BULK FR8 brought this action in bad faith or with intent to harass.

F. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review for the reasons indicated in Part E and reverse the part of the decision of the Court of Appeals, filed March 20, 2017, that reversed the trial court's denial of attorney fees pursuant to RCW 4.28.185(5) leaving the decision of the trial court undisturbed.