### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

### CLERK'S OFFICE

5/19/2017 5:00 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

### No. 94416-4

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BULK FR8, LLC,

Petitioner,

VS.

### MATTHEW SCHULER, an individual, DEREK BROWN, an individual, and TOTAL CONNECTION LOGISTIC SERVICES, INC., a New Jersey Corporation,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW/CROSS-PETITION

ROCKE LAW GROUP, PLLC Aaron V. Rocke, WSBA No. 31525 Peter Montine, WSBA No. 49815 101 Yesler Way, Suite 603 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 652-8670

Attorneys for Respondents



###

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

#### VI. ARGUMENTS

### A. The Court should deny Bulk FR8's petition for review of whether Total Connection is entitled to attorney's fees.

A party seeking discretionary review by the Supreme Court of a court of appeals decision terminating review must file a petition for review. RAP 13.4(a). A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. *Id.* at (b)(1)-(4).

The old employer argues that this Court should grant its petition for review ostensibly on all four categories of RAP 13.4. (Petition for Review, pgs. 5–6.) The issues it raises fail to meet the criteria. Therefore, the Court should deny its petition for review.

### 1. The court of appeals' decision complies with the decisions of other Washington courts.

Bulk FR8 argues that the court of appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and other published decisions of the court of appeals. (Petition for Review, pgs. 5–6.) Bulk FR8 frames the court of appeals' decision as "mandating that less than full victory on the merits for plaintiffs equates to a full fee award for all out of state defendants." This is an inaccurate statement of the court of appeals' decision. The appellate court actually held that the trial court abused its discretion by applying the wrong legal standard when it found the new employer, Total Connection, was not a prevailing party. Slip Opinion at 11-12. Reversing this decision

would be in conflict with settled Washington law, such as in Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, 81 Wn.2d 863, 505 P.2d 790 (1973).

### a. Total Connection is entitled to attorney's fees because it is the prevailing party.

Total Connection is the prevailing party under the long-arm statute because Bulk FR8 obtained a voluntary dismissal. This is consistent with this Court's decision in *Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards*, 81 Wn.2d 863, 868, 505 P.2d 790 (1973). As interpreted by this Court, the legislative intent of the long-arm statute is that, after a plaintiff obtains a voluntary dismissal, a defendant who has been served outside this state should be reimbursed by the plaintiff if the court finds that justice requires it. *Id.* Total Connection is such a defendant. The court of appeals correctly applied the holding of *Andersen* to the present case.

Bulk FR8 points to facts from *Andersen* and argues their materiality. (Petition for Review, pg. 18.) As explained below, none of those factors are required of a foreign defendant to a voluntary dismissal.

### i. Total Connection was not required to acquire a "final judgment."

Bulk FR8 argues that a voluntary dismissal without prejudice is not a "final judgment" and therefore does not entitle a party to attorney's fees. (Petition for Review, pg. 17) (citing *Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft*, 165 Wn.2d 481, 200 P.3d 683 (2009)). The argument is misplaced. *Wachovia* dealt with an award of attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.330. 165 Wn.2d at 488–92. That statute includes a definition: "As used in this section 'prevailing party' means the party in whose favor final judgment is rendered." RCW 4.84.330. Conversely, the Washington long-arm statute has no such definition in its text. *See* RCW 4.28.185.

In *Andersen*, this Court determined that, for the purposes of the long-arm statute, a defendant to a voluntary nonsuit is a prevailing party. 81 Wn.2d at 867–68. Final judgment is not required. *See id*.

### ii. Total Connection was not required to challenge long-arm jurisdiction.

Next, Bulk FR8 argues that a long-arm defendant must win on a challenge to personal jurisdiction before being entitled to attorney's fees under RCW 4.28.185. (Petition for Review, pgs. 13–15); *see also* (Respondent's Brief, pgs. 33–34.) The court of appeals considered this argument and correctly held: "The rules in *Andersen* and *Scott Fetzer* indicate that fee awards under the long-arm statute are not limited to parties who prevail jurisdictionally." (Court of Appeals Decision, pg. 15.) *See, e.g., Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, Inc.*, 81 Wn.2d 863, 505 P.2d 790 (1973) (finding that defendant had prevailed without challenging personal jurisdiction); *Scott Fetzer Co., Kirby Co. Division v. Weeks*, 114 Wn.2d 109, 786 P.2d 265 (1990) (holding that fees were not limited to

parties who prevail jurisdictionally). Once again, adding this requirement to long-arm defendants would go against precedent and is unnecessary.

### 2. The court of appeals' decision complies with the United States Constitution.

Bulk FR8 argues: "Without serving the dual purposes for which the statute was founded, an award of attorney fees under RCW 4.28.185 to Total Connection would be arbitrary and unconstitutional." (Petition for Review, pgs. 9–10.) Bulk FR8 argues that in *State v. O'Connell*, 84 Wn.2d 602, 528 P.2d 988 (1974) (*O'Connell II*), this Court "made section 4.28.185(5) a component of *International Shoe*." (Petition for Review, pg. 11.) This argument was resolved in *Scott Fetzer Co., Kirby Co. Div. v. Weeks*, 114 Wn.2d 109, 117, 786 P.2d 265 (1990).

## B. The Court should grant review of whether the order granting Bulk FR8's voluntary dismissal was proper.

This Court should review the court of appeals' decision as to Bulk FR8's motion for voluntary dismissal. The trial court granted Bulk FR8's voluntary dismissal *ex parte* without notice or opportunity to be heard. When the enjoined parties learned of it and asked the trial court to vacate this order, it refused. The court of appeals affirmed holding the absence of prejudice to a substantial right. (Slip Opinion at 6).

At oral argument, panelists indicated Supreme Court constraints and suggested the grant of voluntary dismissal is a matter of right. While the appellate court's decision may have followed this Court's holdings, it presents an issue of substantial public interest; namely, whether voluntary dismissal should be granted as a matter of right when the trial court has not yet addressed whether a defendant has been wrongfully enjoined. This is an issue that affects all TROs, not just those granted pursuant to noncompete agreements. A substantial portion of the court's docket includes family law cases, a practice area that relies heavily on TROs at the outset of litigation. The court and the public would benefit by greater accountability for provoking unwarranted TROs in *ex parte*. Because this issue is of substantial public interest, the Court should accept review and address it. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4). Because the court of appeals decision will be available to the legal community and provides a trap door to escape accountability, this unpublished opinion calls for greater attention than usual from this Court's calendar.

### 1. The substantial right at issue.

The trial erred in granting Bulk FR8's voluntary dismissal because the employees still had a substantial right at issue; namely, the right to address whether they had been wrongfully enjoined. The court of appeals erred in affirming this decision. The court of appeals' decision rested on the presumption that they were not denied any substantial right by the dismissal. (Court of Appeals Decision, pgs. 5–6.) The employees argued

that the substantial right they lost was the right to make a claim against the security posted with Bulk FR8's TRO. *Id.* The appellate court, however, held that the employees forfeited this right because they had failed to assert their damages when they opposed Bulk FR8's motion to release the bond. *Id.*; *see id.* at 9–10. The employees drew the issue to the court's attention in opposition to the motion (CP 192-94); however, they did not gather all evidence of damage under the page and time limitations, and addressed the issue raised in the opening brief. To hold otherwise is not a fair allocation of responsibility in this case, or a fair expectation prospectively for other cases.

This Court held in *McKay v. McKay* that a voluntary dismissal granted without notice to a defendant did not prejudice the defendant if he or she was not denied any substantial right. 47 Wn.2d 301, 306–07, 287 P.2d 330 (1955). In *McKay*, there was no denial of a substantial right because the defendant could seek separate relief through a new action. *Id.* at 307. For judicial economy and other sound policy, the issue of a wrongful injunction ought to be decided by the very court that granted the TRO in that same civil action.

The test for whether an injunction was wrongful is whether the court **later determines** that the restraint was erroneous in the sense that it would not have been ordered had the court been presented all of the facts.

*Knappett v. Locke*, 92 Wn.2d 643, 646–47, 600 P.2d 1257 (1979) (emphasis added) (citing *Swiss Baco Skyline Logging Co. v. Haliewicz*, 14 Wn. App. 343, 541 P.2d 1015 (1975)). This test contemplates a judicial inquiry into the propriety of the issuance of an injunctive remedy **before** a cause of action arises against the security. *Haliewicz*, 14 Wn. App. at 346. The trial court never finally determined whether the TRO was wrongful, and permitting the secretive and rule-breaking dismissal denied the employees the opportunity to recover against the security.

### 2. Because the trial court granted the release of bond, the enjoined parties had no sure recourse.

The issue of the trial court's grant of voluntary dismissal is further complicated by the fact that the trial court released Bulk FR8's security. The purpose of CR 65(c) is to provide indemnification for parties who are wrongfully restrained or enjoined. *Cedar-Al Products, Inc. v. Chamberlain,* 49 Wn. App. 763, 748, P.2d 235 (Div. II 1987). Even if the employees and their new employer had been given an opportunity to argue that they had been wrongfully enjoined, and even if the trial court agreed, there would have been no guarantee that they could recover anything. For this reason, the trial court's order granting release of bond is reversible error.

While Washington law is not yet developed, federal procedural law supports our position: a plaintiff who voluntarily dismisses an action after a TRO has been issued reaps the benefit of the TRO and, at the same time, deprives the defendant of an opportunity to establish that the TRO ought not to have been granted. *U.S. D.I.D. Corp. v. Windstream Comme 'ns, Inc.*, 775 F.3d 128, 139 (2d Cir. 2014). To avoid this result, a voluntary dismissal may operate as a final adjudication on the merits for purposes of recovery from security posted to secure a TRO. *Id.* The presumption is in favor of awarding damages on the bond to the prevailing party. *See Coyne-Delany Co. v. Capital Dev. Bd. of State of Ill.*, 717 F.2d 385, 392 (7th Cir. 1983). This presumption makes common sense in that the court necessarily assumed damages would flow from the injunction when it required security in the first place. To reverse the presumption later does not support the purpose of the civil rules.

### 3. The court of appeals' decision would have negative consequences on future enjoined persons.

The trial court's decisions on the security bond and voluntary dismissal, which were affirmed by the court of appeals, open a trap door for unscrupulous litigants to obtain wrongful TROs against parties and non-parties alike, without accountability. (*See* Appellant's Reply Brief, pgs. 23–24.) By affirming the trial court's decisions, the court of appeals publicizes the way to abuse the court system.

Based on the decisions of the trial court and court of appeals, employers can now follow in Bulk FR8's footsteps by: (1) acquiring a wrongful TRO *ex parte*; (2) posting whatever bond the court requires; (3) moving for preliminary injunction; (4) if denied the preliminary injunction, moving for release of bond, which will be granted; and then (5) moving for voluntary dismissal. This effectively eviscerates the protections granted to enjoined persons by CR 65(c).

The court of appeals' justification for this outcome was that the employees and their new employer should have demonstrated their damages in their response to Bulk FR8's motion for release of bond. This is a harsh solution that places a substantial burden on the enjoined party. They would have had to scramble to gather sufficient evidence to establish (1) that the TRO was wrongful; and (2) their damages. Because the motion for release of bond occurred so early in litigation, and because the employees had less than two weeks to respond, they had little chance of making these showings in their response. Allowing the enjoining party to dictate when the enjoined party must present its evidence of wrongful injunction and damages turns the protections of CR 65(c) against the enjoined party.

Parties enjoined by a TRO should not be required to prove their damages in response to a motion for release of the security. Rather, the enjoined parties should (1) be given time to investigate the circumstances of the injunction, (2) be allowed to address this issue through separate motion, and (3) be permitted to argue their position before the court. Furthermore, if the trial court has not yet reached this issue, it should be prohibited from granting a voluntary nonsuit, which would necessarily deprive the enjoined party of this substantial right.

This Court should reverse the court of appeals' affirmance of the trial court's order granting Bulk FR8's voluntary dismissal before addressing whether the TRO was wrongfully issued.

//

//

//

//

### VII. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Bulk FR8's petition for review and grant review on specific issues: the release of security and granting of voluntary dismissal when the issue of wrongful enjoinment has not yet been finally decided.